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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

WM. C. PLOUFFE, JR.,
Plaintiff, : CIVIL ACTION NO. 11-6390
V.

MICHAEL GAMBONE, STEVE HICKS,
JULIE REESE, ASSOCIATION OF
PENNSYLVANIA STATE COLLEGE &
UNIVERSITY FACULTIES, JOHN DOES,
in their individual capacity and her official
capacity as an APSCUF member, agent,
representative, officer, supervisor,
employee, and/or policymaker of APSCUF,
PIETRO TOGGIA, MARK RENZEMA,

and JONATHAN KREMSER,

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Smith, J. April 27, 2016
This is the companion case Riouffe v. Cevallos, et alNo. 161502. Thepro se

plaintiff, William C. Plouffe, Jr. (“Plouffe”), filed this actioas a separate lawsuit, rather than
embedding it within the alreagyending sui becausethe Court in 16CV-1502 ha[d]ordered
Plouffe not to file any more motions . . . until the interlocutappeal on a collateral issue ha[d]
been resolved.”SeeCompl. at 2, Doc. No. . But for the addition of different defendants and
claims, the allegations appearing in the operative amended complaint largely ti@sd th
appearing in the operative fifth amended complaint in the 2010 m&e=Am. Compl., Doc.

No. 12. After earlymotion practice, Judge McLaughlin ruled that “[tjhe only agmmg claims

in this lawsuit are the 8§ 198#ased claims against defendants Gambone, Kremser, Renzema, and

Toggia.” Order, Doc. No. 29.

! The Honorable Mary A. McLaughlipresided ovebothmattes at the time that order was entered.
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These defendants now move for summary judgmerihememainingclaims. SeeMot.
for Summ. J., Doc. No. 118In responding to this motion as it concerns the First Amendment
claims and the due process claim, Ploudfates that héadopts and incorporates herein the
arguments and authorities raised in his companion ResponseOW-1602 and in the interests
of economydoes not repeat it here.” Resp. at 4, Doc. No. 1B8cause the court has entered
judgment in favor of the defendants on these claims in the 2010 action, the court likedise, a
for the same reasons, enters judgment in favor of the defendants onlaimaseirc this action.
And yet again, it follows that because the court finds in favor of the deferatatiie underlying
constitutional violations, the court musgcessarilyenter judgment in their favor on the section
1983 conspiracy claim as wéllThis matter is concluded.

The court will issue a separate orfl@mally disposing of the outstanding motions.

BY THE COURT:

/s/ Edward G. Smith
EDWARD G. SMITH, J.

2 A copy of the memorandum opinion filedRibuffe v. Cevallos, et alNo. 101502 is incorporated into this
opinion and attached hereto for ease of reference.



IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYIANIA

WM. C. PLOUFFE, JR.,
Plaintiff, : CIVIL ACTION NO. 10-1502
V.

F. JAVIER CEVALLOS, ANNE ZAYAITZ,
SHARON PICUS, ALEXANDER
PISCIOTTA, DEBORAH SEIGER,

PIETRO TOGGIA, MARK RENZEMA,
MAHFUZUL KHONDAKER, JONATHAN
KREMSER, KEITH LOGAN, GARY
CORDNER, ANN MARIE CORDNER,
ROBERT WATROUS, JOHN

CAVANAUGH, MICHAEL MOTTOLA,

JOHN DOES, employees, officers,
supervisors, and/or policy makers of
Kutztown University and/or Pennsylvania
State System of Higher Eduiat (PASSHE),
in their official and individual capacities, and:
KUTZTOWN UNIVERSITY, :

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Smith, J. April 27, 2016
The pro seplaintiff, William C. Plouffe, Jr. (“Plouffe”), initially filed this action in 201
against, among others, his former employer, Kutztown University, seekiregsdadrconnection
with his termination as a tenuteack professor in the Department of Crimdidustice. Although
the orderly progression of this matter has not been without interruption, thestmoeviripe for
determining whether Plouffe is entitled to present any of his claims to aljung had his way,
the court would empanel a jury to pass upon the actions of the defendants as memsused a
not only federal and state statutes, but also against the federal Constitution. dridamaksf

argue that Plouffe is not entitled to present any of his claims to a jurydeeaaeasonable jury



could not find in his favor on any of them. Filtering the current record through fasihamary
judgment principles, the court concludes that Plouffe is entitled to stand befoye e jury,
however, will not be asked to consider claims of a constitutional magnitude. At ifsandre
despite the current state of the docket, this action smacks of a relativelhtkiraigrd
employment case. As such, only claims of a statutory origin will be in pteyhat follows, the
court explains this dispd®n. The court also addresses two procedural issues that have a
marked tendency to crop uppino secases.
l. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

This case is over six years oldThe filings are numerous. Plouffe has filed multiple
interlocutory appeals. Motion practice has been quite involved. For the sake of ahatity
simplicity, the court recounts only those procedural events that add color egéhéskues that
require disposition.

Plouffe commenced this action on April 5, 2010, by filing a complagainst many of
the currentlynamed defendantsSeeCompl., Doc. No. 1. After extensive motion practice and
various amended complaints, he filed the operative fifth amended complaint on March 25, 2013,
against all of the currentlyamed defendantsSeeFifth Am. Compl., Doc. No. 200. Over a
year later, and after a significant period of time in which Judge McLaughled this case to

assist Plouffe both in maintaining this litigation in the face of serious healths isgwk in

% Due to a procedural twist, there is a companion caseipg before the undersigne8eePlouffe v. Gambone, et
al., No. 116390. Although that action deals with different defendants, its falstkidrop largely mirrors that of
this case. Adding another parallel, the defendants there have also moseahifieary judgment on all claims.
While the court draws from the reasoning contained in this opinionpgostsof that motion, the court formally
addresses the motion in a separate opinion.

* During this time, the Honorable Mary A. McLaughlin presided dkisr matter.
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attempting to secarcounsel, Brian Puricelli, Esq. (“Puricelli”) entered his appearance on behalf
of Plouffe on April 11, 2014 SeeAppearance, Doc. No. 232.

As discovery came to a close, Puricelli filed his first motion to withdrawoaase!l on
June 29, 2015SeeMot., Doc. No. 245. In support of this motion, Puricelli stated that “there is
an irreconcilable difference between counsel and client, a loss of communication and
cooperation with the client exists, which counsel has unsuccessfully attempostet, andhe
representation is placing a financial burden on coungdl.at 1. Before Judge McLaughlin had
a chance to address the motion to withdraw, all of the defendants collectizelg finotion for
summary judgment on July 1, 201SeeMot. for Summ. J., Doc. No. 247. After a telephone
conference on July 9, 2015, Judge McLaughlin entered an order in which she indicated that
Puricelli had agreed to continue to represent Plouffe throughout the summanenidgage.
SeeOrder, Doc. No. 250. The order also provided that Plouffe should file a response to the
outstanding motion for summary judgment by August 15, 2(Bée id. Before that date could
pass, Puricelli filed a renewed motion to withdraw, again claiming that the attdreety
relationship had completely broken dowSeeRenewed Mot., Doc. No. 257. On August 17,
2015, the Honorable Petrese B. Tucker reassigned this matter to the underSge©rder,

Doc. No. 259.

After holding a hearing on the renewed motion to withdraw, the cdovted Puricelli to
withdraw on October 8, 20155eeOrder, Doc. No. 271. At that time, the court also rereferred
this matter to the Plaintiffs’ Employment Panel, consolidated this case with the ystgvio
mentioned companion case for purposes of trial, and extended the time for Plouffeato file

response to the motion for summary judgmer@ee id. Plouffe filed his response, with

® It appears that Judge McLaughlin appointed Puricelli from the Plairfiffglloyment PanelSeeOrder, Doc. No.
231.



accompanying exhibits, on October 29, 201SeeResp., Doc. No. 289. The court heard
argument on the motion for summary judgment on December 18, 2015. On January 6, 2016, the
court entered an order staying this matter for thirty days to proviodeff® with another
opportunity to obtain counselSeeOrder, Doc. No. 368. Unfortunately, no attorney has entered
an appearancenohis behalf. The court has scheduled a final pretrial conference for June 1,
2016. SeeOrder, Doc. No. 383.
. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Giving Plouffe, as the nemoving party, the benefit of all evidentiary doubts, the court
adopts his version of the facas the operative recofd.Kutztown University hired Plouffe to
serve as a “tenurgack Assistant Professor in the Department of Criminal Justice” beginning in
January 2008. Plouffe’s Statement at { 1, Doc. No. 290. The parties entered into at‘cbntra
employment which was renewable annuallyd’ at { 2. To aid in giving some structure to the
more substantive statements of fact, the court takes guidance from the folbassayge:

Over the course of his two years of employment at the UniverBiguffe

experienced multiple conflicts with other members of the Department and the

University, particularly the Department chair, defendant Alexander RBcio

[(“Pisciotta”)], and another professor, defendant Keith Loffdrogan”)]. These

conflicts eupted over a variety of topics, including publication authorship,

teaching course load and courassignments, a proposed Master's degree

program, examination writing, a speaker series, and a Westlaw subscription.

Plouffe v. CevallgsNo. CIV.A. 101502,2012 WL 1994785, at *1 (E.D. Pa. June 1, 2012)

(McLaughlin, J.).

® That version is taken from Plouffe’s Statement of Undisputed F8etPlouffe’s Statement, Doc. No. 290. In
supportof many of the statements appearing in that document, Plouffe filed hiaffidavit. SeePlouffe’s Aff.,

Doc. No. 2911. “[A] plaintiff's affidavit can be competent evidence to rebut a motion for summary judgmen
Murry v. Barnes122 F. App’x 853, 855 (7th Cir. 200&jitation omitted). The defendants have neither attacked the
evidentiary quality of Plouffe’s affidavit nor argued that any of the §ipestatements appearing in Plouffe’s
Statement of Undisputed Facts are unsupported by record eeiden
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For example, Plouffe received permission “to teach an overload course” as af way
making more money. Plouffe’s Statement at { 3. Pisciotta, however, subsequendyed the
overload ourse from Plouffe and gave it to Loganld. at 4. After grieving the matter,
Plouffe got the course backSee id. As another example, “Pisciotta told Plouffe to start
developing a Law of Terrorism classld. at 1 5. After preparing materials fibre class, Logan
asked Plouffe to see those materials, to which Plouffe obli§ee. id. Plouffe later discovered
that “Logan had plagarised [sic] Plouffe’s materials and Pisciotta had giveouhse to Logan,
without telling Plouffe.” Id. After Plouffe had gone to “the Union for assistance,” “Pisciotta
apologized to Plouffe but would still not return the courskl” As a final example, “several
students came to Plouffe and reported that Logan was uncollegially defaloirfig Relling the
studerts not to take Plouffe’'s classes because [he] did not know what he was dioingt™ 6.
Plouffe’s complaints surrounding this incident went unanswegse id. At some point, Plouffe
sought out “fellow Union members in the Criminal Justice Depairtrioeradvice and help.1d.
at 1 8.

In October 2008, “Plouffe received his first year review from the Perfarejan
Evaluation, and Tenure Committee consisting of Toggia, Renzema, and Seiger jfefessors
in the Criminal Justice Department].ld. at § 10. Although Plouffe received a satisfactory
rating, which indicates the highest level of performance, his reviedutiad comments about
some minor issues involving disputes, which should not have been included in [the] evaluation.”
Id. at { 12;see id.at § 11. “On October 24, 2008, Pisciotta, the Criminal Justice Department
Chair, completed his review of Plouffe.ld. at § 16. In similar fashion, Plouffe received a
“Very Good” rating, though again there were some comments concernimguooation issues.

See idat § 17. Despite the presence of these comments, “they were the best evaluatons fo



first year faculty member in the recent history of Kutztown Universitg."at 1 19. Taking the
Union’s advice, Plouffe filed a “contractualalowed rebuttal” to the comments that he deemed
improper. Id. at { 21. Pisciotta filed a retaliatory reply to Plouffe’s rebuttal, thoughetblg r
was ultimately stricken from Plouffe’s personnel fileeeid. at 1 2325. “Plouffe was renewed

for a fcond year of employment by Kutztown University from January 2009 to January 2010.
Id. at T 27.

Plouffe’s major conflict with Kutztown University materialized in the sprofg2009.
During that time, Plouffe was appointed to a “Search Committee K¥itimdaker and Toggia
[professors in the Criminal Justice Department] to find a temporary (ongpreé&ssor for the
[Department].” Id. at  33. “Kutztown policy mandated that a person who did not have the
advertised qualifications was not eligible fore and was not even eligible for an intervievd:
at 1 35. “Plouffe was told by Toggia and Pisciotta that there was a favored camdidateas
going to be hired: Michael Pittaro [(“Pittaro”)].”ld. at § 38. After reviewing Pittaro’s
credentials, Puffe discovered both that he did not possess the “advertised qualifications” and
that he lied about his academic accomplishmemds.at § 40. Plouffe subsequently brought
these issues, in addition to conflmftinterest issues, to the attention oé tSearch Committee
and the Criminal Justice Departmei@ee idat 1 4244. He indicated that the hiring of Pittaro
would violate both criminal law and ethical cod&ee idat 1 5651.

The members of the Criminal Justice Department responded to Plouffe by becoming
verbally abusive towards him and stating that “they were still going to inteeuievhire Pittaro
which they subsequently attemptedd. at | 47;see id.at  45. The Search Committee ended
up interviewing Pittaro. See id.at § 49. In the face of Plouffe’s continuing objections, it

appeared that Pittaro was ultimately going to be recommended for $ee.id.at {{ 5758.



After putting everyone on notice that he would report this “illegal and unethioatydctup the
chain of ommand,” Plouffe eventually filed a “whistle blowing complaint” with the Ursitgr
Dean, Provost, and the Office of Social Equitg. at 1 59, 61. “The Office of Social Equity
upheld Plouffe’s complaint” and “advised the Criminal Justice Departmanfittaro was not
gualified and would not be hiredJd. at § 62.

In the wake of his “successful whistle blowing,” Plouffe’s relationghwhe other
members of the Criminal Justice Department sour8de id.at { 63. “In the late [s]pring of
2009, Plouffe was told by the Union and several other professors that the Criminag¢ Justi
Department was going to fire him for his whistle blowindd. at  72. Around the same time,
the Criminal Justice Department filed a complaint with the University Deainirig over 140
complaints against Plouffe covering the time since his employment in 20@B.at | 77.
Without sufficient notice, the Dean interrogated Plouffe on July 17, 2009, regarding the
complaint filed by the Criminal Justice Departmer8ee id at Y 8182. The Dean refused
Plouffe’'s request to have union representation present during the me&awggid. Perhaps
having some connection with the topics discussed at the July 17 meeting, the Huateom®el
Department commenced an investigatioto “a complaint by the Criminal Justice Department
of a hostile work environment created by Ploufféd’ at  85. On September 3, 2009, Plouffe
was once again interrogated (though this time with union representation) withouphmiided
with a sufficient opportunity to present his side of the stoBgee id.at T 89. All the while,
Plouffe was receiving disparate treatment within the Criminal Justice Depaitsedf. See id.
at 19 79, 83-84, 88.

On October 6, 2009, “Plouffe was scheduled foPraDisciplinary Conference with

Cevallos [the University President]ft. at  91. Prior to the conference, Plouffe and his union



representatives had been unsuccessful in obtaining the specifics about wttaboas. See id.

at 1 92. At the timefdahe conference, Plouffe asked for a continuance so that he could prepare
an adequate defens&ee idat  94. That request was denieske id. Towards the end of the
conference, Cevallos “allowed Plouffe to say a few sentences about each of thédenges.”

Id. at {1 95. “At the end of the Conference, Plouffe asked to be allowed to submit a breéf, whi
Cevallos took under advisementd. at  96. “[W]ithout being given the chance to file a brief,”
“Plouffe was given his termination lettes he exited his classroom” on October 7, 2008. at

1 98. The reasons given for his termination were: “l) failure to develop constructive
relationships and 2) contributing to significant conflicts preventing the Criminsiicd
Department from functioning.ld. at § 99. “Before Plouffe was terminated,” he was told “that
the Criminal Justice Department had already selected the person to replace himatamd t
termination had been already been [sic] decided and that tHeigiplinary Conference was a
mere formality.” Id. at § 113.

Prior to Plouffe, nobody had ever been “disciplined or terminated for such reasons at
Kutztown University.” Id. at  103. His termination “violated the basic policy that discipline
was to be corrective and progressiveld. at  104. Viewing the termination with an eye
towards some form of discrimination, “the Local Union . . . advised Plouffe that a naiber
female professors who had been much more uncollegial than Plouffe had not been @mninate
disciplined” Id. at § 109. On one occasion, Plouffe observed a female professor publicly berate
a male professor in front of studentsSee id.at § 110. The female professor was never
disciplined. See id. Moreover, Plouffe was made aware of a female profassthre Sociology

Department who lashed out against her colleagues in a violent ma&eerdat § 111. This

" Although Plouffe has the date as “Friday, October 7, 2009,” October 7, 200%twallyea Wednesday. Plouffe’s
Statement at 1 98. Plouffe’s termination letter, which is marked agi“Balivered,” is dated October 9, 2009,
which was a Friday. ExX33, Doc. No. 29P.
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professor was never disciplined and, in fact, was granted teBereid. Although not explicitly
stated in Plouffe’s Statement of Undisputéakcts, it appears that Plouffe was replaced by a
female professor, Janie Slamo8eePlouffe’'s Aff. at § 81. To top it off, Kutztown University
also failed to post “the Pennsylvania Whistle Blower Act.” Plouffe’s Stateatef] 106.

“After Plouffe was érminated, he made more than 300 applications for employment,
most at academic institutionsld. at § 121. He never received a job, seemingly, at least in part,
due to knowledge of his whistle blowing activitieSee id. Back at Kutztown University, both
“Toggia and Logan gave statements” to the school newspaper regardingnmstien. Id. at
135. In addition, his “ratemyprofessor.com ratings” (which apparently had been quite good)
disappeared, although “other fessors who were no longer at the Criminal Justice Department
at Kutztown University still had their ratings on the websitéd’ at  136. At some point,
Pisciotta told Plouffe’'s former students that “’Plouffe would never work at BEwtztUniversity
agan.” Id.atq 7C.

1. DISCUSSION®

A. Preliminary Procedural Issues

Before getting to the heart of the matter, the court must address two procedgens
that are of great importance to Plouffe. The first concern centers omgtimafion with wiat he
believes to be an obstructionist effort on the part of the court to prevent him framirdpt
counsel. Suffice it to say, no such effort exists. Indeed, the court would yhestdome
counsel to enter an appearance on behalf of Plouffe. The fundamental legal problem, though, is
that, unlike private litigants, who are relatively unconstrained in using their ooroes as

they see fit to hire a lawyer, the court is operating within the bounds olutosgatand possible

8 The court has subjeatatter jurisdiction over the federal claims pursuar®@dJ.S.C. § 133and over the state
claims pursuant t88 U.S.C. § 1367.
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constitutional, constraint. 28 U.S.C. § 1915(e)(1) provides thate‘[ourt mayrequestan
attorney to represent any person unable to afford counsel.” (emphasis added). sdjwveanho
authority under then forma pauperisstatute, 28 U.S.C. 8§ 1915(e)(1), to compel coutse
represent an indigent civil litigant; the court may only make the reu@étliiams v. Forte 541

F. App’x 193, 196 (3d Cir. 2013emphasis in original) (citation omitted). The court, in other
words, must rely on the good graces of counsel.

In this case, both Judge McLaughlin and the undersigned have made the request by
referring this matter to the Plaintiffs’ Employment Panel. Beyond that, botge MdLaughlin
and the undersigned have stayed this case at various points for the sole puirosediolg
Plouffe with an opportunity to make a request on his o@eeOrders, Doc. Nos. 226, 368.
And, let it not be forgotten, Plouffe did, in fact, have coursed always, the good graces of the
bar were forthcoming. Of course, and unfortunately for Plouffe, that repatise did not work
out. With the permission of the court, Puricelli formally withdrew his serviaes & tortured
attorneyelient relationship on October 19, 201SeeWithdrawal of Appearance, Doc. No. 276.
Despite ample opportunity, no attorney has agreed to take on this matter ecotié geround.
Although a hard reality, it is not uncommon; “[os} indigent parties in civil cases must fend for
themselves DiAngelo v. lllinois Dep’'t of Pub. Aid891 F.2d 1260, 1262 (7t@ir. 1989)
(Easterbrook, J.).

But this does not mean that the litigation must come to a screeching halt. Circumstance
dictate that it must continue, for all litigation must end. Both the court and the partesan
obligation “to secure the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of estemy and
proceeding Fed. R. Civ. P. 1. To reiterate, this rather routine employment case is now over six

years old. Plouffe has ably demonstrated that he possesses the mentyl twagafend himself
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in this case. To be sure, he just siAgndedly staved off summary judgment on some of his
claims. The court has scheduled a jury trial to begin in Allentown, Pennsylvania (Btotiféd

does not have to travel the further distance to Easton, Pennsylvania) on June BexliGler,

Doc. No. 383. Prior to trial, and most likely at the final pretrial conference, thé wdlr
entertain any requests that Plouffe might wish to present, other than postponingj foe tine
purposes of continuing his efforts to obtain counsel, that touch on what physical
accommodations he may need to enable him to present his case to a jury. Baaorgiazaty
circumstances, this case will, as justice mandates that it must, be concluithedeng of June.

All parties deserve the solace of finality.

The second procedural issue concerns Plouffe’s repeated requests to have the
undersigned recuse himself from presiding over this matter. The currenstréakes the form
of a running list (now up to twentipur violations) of all of the times the undersigned has
allegedly violated the Canons of Judicial Condu@teSecond Am. to Mot. tRecuse, Doc. No.
378. The alleged violations range from improperly (in Plouffe’s eyes) appthimdaw to
frustrating (again in his eyes) his attempts to retain cousss.idat 45, 14, 21, 33-34.

In general, while & party may seek to recuse edéral judge on the basis of bias or
prejudice” under28 U.S.C. § 144, 28 U.S.C. 8§ 45&quires a judge to recuse where his or her
impartiality might reasonably be questiofedPetrossian v. Cole613 F. Appk 109, 112 (3d
Cir. 2015)(citation omitted). Under either statute, “a parsytispleasure with legal rulings does
not form an adequate basis for rectisgbecuracomm Consulting, Inc. v. Securacom, |24
F.3d 273, 278 (3d Cir. 200(gitations omitted). Furtheryécusal isnot required on thergunds
of unsupported, irrational, or highly tenuous speculatidn.te Kokinda 581 F. App’x 160, 161

(3d Cir. 2014) (internal guotation marks and citation omitted).
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As should be apparent, Plouffe’s running list of alleged violations adds up to nothing
more than a manifestation of his displeasure with the undersigned’s rulidgdge$ have an
obligation to litigants and their colleagues not to remove themselves neetllédatyer of Nat'l
Union Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh, Pa839 F.2d 1226, 1229 (7th Cir. 198@asterbrook, J.)
(citation omitted). To recuse in this matter, where the record reveals alysotuteasis for it,
would be to abdicate this high duty. The court will not allow that to happen. The court denies
any requests to recuse amagcordingly, turns to the merits of the motion for summary judgment.

B. Standard — Motion for Summary Judgment

A district court “shall grant summary judgment if the movant shows that there is n
genuine issue as to any material fact and the movantiike@rnb judgment as a matter of law.”
Fed.R. Civ. P. 56(a). Additionally, “[sJummary judgment is appropriate when ‘the pleadings,
depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, togethaheviaffidavits, if
any, show that there 130 genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is
entitled to gudgment as a matter of law.Wright v. Corning679 F.3d 101, 1083d Cir. 2012)
(quotingOrsatti v. New Jerse$tate Police/1F.3d 480, 482 (3d Cir. 1995)). An issoigfact is
“genuine” if “the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could returmet/fer the nonmoving
party.” Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Ind77 U.S. 242, 248 (1986)A fact is “material” if it
“might affect the outcome of thauit under the governing lawfd.

The party moving for summary judgment has the initial burden “of informing thécdistr
court of the basis for its motion, and identifying those portions of the pleadings, deppsitions
answers to interrogatories, and admissions ontblgether with the affidavits, if any, which it
believes demonstrate the absence of a genuine issue of materialGatdtéx Corp. v. Catrett

477 U.S. 317, 323 (1986) (internal quotation marks omitted). Once the moving party has met
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this burden, the memoving party must counter with “specific facts showing that thera
genuine issue for trial.”’Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Co#75 U.S. 574, 587
(1986) (citation omitted)seeFed.R. Civ. P. 56(c}1) (stating that “[a] party asgéng that a fact .
. . Is genuinely disputed must support the assertion by . . . citing to particular parteridilsen
the record . . .; or . . . [by] showing that the materials cited do not establish theeahseofta
genuine dispute”).

“The mere existence of a scintilla of evidenin support of the [nonmovant’s] position
will be insufficient.” Daniels v. SchodDist. of Philadelphia776 F.3d 181, 192 (3d Cir. 2015)
(internal quotation marks and citation omittedBare assertions, conclusory allegations, or
suspicions are insuffient to defeat summary judgmengeeFireman’s Ins. Co. v. DuFresne,
676 F.2d 965, 969 (3d Cir. 1982) (indicating that a party opposing a motion for summary
judgment may not “rely merely upon bare assertions, conclusory allegations onossSpic
Ridgewood Bd. of Educ. v. N.E. for M.E72 F.3d 238, 252 (3d Cir. 1999) (explaining that
“speculation and conclusory allegations” do not satisfy-mawring party’s duty to “set forth
specific facts showing that a genuine issue of material fact exists and thabaalgle factfiner
could rule in its favor”). Additionally, the nemoving party “cannot rely on unsupported
allegations, but must go beyond pleadings and provide some evidence that would show that there
exists a genuine issue for trial.Jones v. United Parcel Ser214 F.3d 402, 407 (3d Cir. 2000).
Moreover, arguments made in briefs “are not evidence and cannot by thesngelate a factual
dispute sufficient to defeat a summary judgment motiodetseyCent. Power & Light Co. v.
Townshipof Lacey 772 F.2d 1103, 1109-10 (3d Cir. 1985).

“When considering whether there exist genuine issues of material fact, thieiscou

required to examine the evidence of record in the light most favorable to tyeoppdsing
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summary judgment, and resolve all reasonabler@mices in that party’s favor.’"Wishkin v.
Potter,476 F.3d 180, 184 (3d Cir. 2007) (citation omitted). The court must decide “not whether
. . . the evidence unmistakably favors one side or ther bt whether a faiminded jury could
return a verdict for the plaintiff on the evidence presentdatlerson477 U.Sat 252. “Where
the record taken as a whole could not lead a rational trier of fact to find for thmavomg
party, theras no ‘genuine issue for trial’”” and the court should grant summary judgmétor

of the moving party Matsushita Elec. Indus. Cal75 U.S. at 587 (citation omitted).

C. Analysis
1. The First Amendment Claims

The defendants first move for summary judgment on Plouffe’s First Amenditaensc
which are broken down into a claim under the Speech Clause and a claim undertithe Peti
Clause. SeeMot. for Summ. J. at 216, Doc. No. 247. Because g consideratins that shape
the application of the Speech Clause to public employees apply with equal forcenw ja
those employees under the Petition Clduseurts have applied the same type of analysis to
both types of claims.Borough of Duryea, Pa. v. Guasri, 564 U.S. 379, 3892011) see
Devlin v. Kalm 630 F. Appx 534, 540 (6th Cir. 2015)stating that “[w]hether this retaliation
claim is brought under the Free Speech Clause or the Petition Clause of tharfangtment,
we apply the same analysis” @ibn omitted));Fields v. City of Tulsa753 F.3d 1000, 1013 n.1
(10th Cir. 2014) (reading Guarnieri for the proposition that rétaliation claims by public
employees are subject to the same test regardless of whether they artheiktee Speech or
Petition clauses of the First AmendmignKimmett v. Corbeft554 F. App’x 106, 11(.5 (3d

Cir. 2014)(noting that “[the standards applicable to each type of protected conduct are”similar
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(citation omitted)). This court likewise discusses both claimsgler the same analytical
framework’
The parties seem to agree on the core workings of that framework, but thegaicagr
its contours.
To establish a First Amendment retaliation claim, a public employee must show
that (1) his speech is protectey the First Amendment and (2) the speech was a
substantial or motivating factor in the alleged retaliatory action, which, if both are
proved, shifts the burden to the employer to prove that (3) the same action would
have been taken even if the speech had not occurred
Dougherty v. School Dist. of Philadelphiaz2 F.3d 979, 986 (3d Cir. 201&jitation omitted).
The critical question here is whether Plouffe engaged in activity protdptethe First
Amendment, which is “a question of [dwGorum v. Sessns 561 F.3d 179, 184 (3d Cir. 2009)
(internal quotation marks and citation omitted). If the court determines thaffdldid not
engage in activity protected by the First Amendment as a matter of law, the‘weed not
address the other aspects & ffirst Amendment retaliation inquity Burne v. Siderowicz45
F. App’'x 529, 533 (3d Cir. 2011).
A public employees statement is protected activity when (1) in making it, the
employee spoke as a citizen, (2) the statement involved a matter of public
concern, and (3) the government employer did not lsavadequate justification
for treating the employee differently from any ettmember of the general public
as a result of the statement he made.
Hill v. Borough of Kutztowm55 F.3d 225, 2442 (3d Cir. 2006)internal quotation marks and
citation omitted). “[W]hile the First Amendment invests public employees withicertgts, it

does not empower them tonstitutonalize the employee grievanceGarcetti v. Ceballos547

U.S. 410, 42q2006) {nternal quotation marks and citation omitted). “[W]hen public employees

® To the extent that Plouffe makes some form of argument that the courhilsitebfrom considering the import of
Guarnieribased on Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 59, that argument is misplaced agetiatri®t operative at
this time. SeeResp. at 4, Doc. No. 289. Moreoves,decisioron a motion to dismiss does not esgbthe law of
the case for purposes of summary judgment, when the complaint hasipplemrented by discovery Devlin, 630
F. App’x at 539 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).
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make statements pursuant to their official duties, the employees are not g@esakihzens for
First Amendment purposes, and the Constitution does not insulate their commusit@aton
employer discipling Id. at 421. The court begins (and ends) with a discussion of the first prong
because “[i]f an employee’s speech was madsyant to his official duties, [the courtged not
examine whethertlig speech passes the [second #mrd steps].” Kimmett v. Corbeft554 F.
App’x 106, 111n.9 (3d Cir. 2014)(alteration added and in original) (internal quotation marks
and citation omitted).

Both the Supreme Court and the Third Circthave forgone any attempt to create a
comprehenive framework for determining whether speésimade pursuant to an employee’
official job duties” Flora v. Countyof Luzerne 776 F.3d 169, 177 (3d Cir. 201§itation
omitted). Because “[tle proper inquiry is a practical one,” the Third Circt#s$ given contours
to Garcettis practical inquiry for dining the scope of an employseduties’ Garcetti, 547
U.S. at 424Dougherty v. School Dist. of Philadelphiazr2 F.3d 979, 988 (3d Cir. 2014 he
court must examine:

among other fings: (1) whether the employee’s speech relates to special

knowledge or experience acquired through his job; (2) whether the employee

raises complaints or concerns about issues relating to his job duties up the chain

of command at his workplace ...; (3) whether thespeech fell within the

employee$ designated responsibilities. . ; and (4) whether the employge’

speech is in furtherance of his designated duties, even if the speech at isgue is n

part of them.

Kimmett 554 F. App’x at 111 (internal quotation marks, citations, and footnote omitted). The
touchstone appears to be determining whether the employee’s speech in quastmmivas

not part of the work he was paid to perform on an ordinary .badttora, 776 F.3d at 180

(citation omitted).
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Given the way in which the parties frame the issue, the court need only considegrwhet
Plouffe was speaking as a citizen when he complained of the potential hiRittpod. While it
is true that the First Amendment protects some speech “@aderk” and felated to the
speaker’s job,” this is not one of those instancé&sarcett, 547 U.S. at 42@1 (citations
omitted). “Whether a person speaks as a citizen depends less on the subgeetthmigh that
is relevant—than on the manner of speh, specifically whether the plaintiff is expected,
pursuant to [his or her] job duties, to make the speech that is at iskre.’v. Harran 625 F.
App’x 574, 580 (3d Cir. 2015) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

Here, when Plouffe beme part of the Search Committee, he assumed responsibilities
that came along with that role. Working closely with the Committee, he found out thatb$om
his colleagues were going to make a recommendation that contravened, among aties;, poli
establifed Kutztown policy. It does not seem unreasonable to expect that an employee in
Plouffe’s situation would act as he did to protect the integrity of the hiringgsocAnd perhaps
more importantly, he used a procedure established by Kutztown University to brirmyptesns
to the attention of the University Administration. “[A]s a general mattgoressing concern
about an employer’s actions up the chain of command . . . is unlikely to be protddteat.581
(internal quotation marks and citatioosiitted); seeKimmett 554 F. App’x at 112 (stating that
“[blecause this speech was made up the chain of command and related to his emmayiesent
it was pursuant to his job duties” (citation omitted)ylor v. Pawlowski551 F. App’x 31, 32
(3d Cir. 2013) (stating that “[w]e have held that [ijn making their voices heard uphdne af
command, government employees speak pursuant to their duties as governmeneeshploy

(internal quotation marks and citation omitted)).
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True, Plouffe may not have hadlegal or contractual obligation to report his concerns.
But this misses the point. The inquiry is a practical one. The important point is that once
Plouffe was appointed to the Search Committee, he took on a professional role beyamct the st
confines of the classroomindeed, many professors assume duties that take them beyond
teaching classes, grading exams, and engaging in scholarly ativiteeems quite sensible to
conclude that, as a professor tasked with the duty to assist in a collaboratit/eoaicommend
a hire, Plouffe was employed, at least in part and at least at that time, with tb&gepéhat he
would use internal grievance procedures (should it come to that) to ensure that thatatola
effort fulfilled its stated pyose. This is enough to take his activity outside the ambit of the First
Amendment.

Because Plouffe did not speak as a citizen when he filed his petition regardang $itt
hiring, “a federal court is not the appropriate forum in which to review the wisdom of a
personnel decision taken by a public agency allegedly in reaction to the enyplogieavior’
Connick v. Myers461 U.S. 138, 1471983)(citation omitted). Consequently, the court grants
the defendants’ motion with respect to the First Amendment claims and entgreejudn their
favor.*®

2. The Due Process Claim

The defendants next move for summary judgment on Plouffe’s due process Slaan.
Mot. for Summ. J. at 288. This claim too can be broken down into two parts for Plouffe
assertdhat the defendants violated both a property and a liberty integestResp. at 144.

The court takes each in turn.

2To the extent that Plouffe seeks damages from the individual defei#mesr individual capacities, the court
notes for the sake of completeness that those defendants would ékalgtbcted by qualified immunity. To the
extent that he seeks prospective relief unddexaRarte Youngheory, the court notes the possibility of justiciability
issues given his current state of health.
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At the outset, Plouffe is correct in recognizing that Judge McLaughlin did notbfrohi
him from pressing a due process claim based on a property interest past the plagdirgest
id. at 14;see alsdrder, Doc. No. 97. But, as much as he argues otherwise, the court is also not
prohibited from considering the merits of this claim at this time, especially wherefireddnts
have affirmatively requested its dismissal. Even though they addrés®mliflegal aspects of
this claim, “[flederalcourtsare entitledto apply the right body of law, whether the parties name
it or not.” ISI Int’l, Inc. v. Borden Ladner Gervais LI.R56 F.3d 548, 551 (7th Cir. 2001)
(Easterbrook, J.) (citations omitted). The court thus takes a fresh look atithis cla

“A procedural due process claim is subject to a-stame inquiry: (1) whether the
plaintiff has a property interest protected by procedural due process, and (rodedures
constitute due process of lawSchmidt v. Creedor639 F.3d 587, 595 (3d Cir. 201{nternal
guotation marks and citation omitted). Plouffe’s claim fails on the first prong, smtheneed
not discuss the second one.

“Property interests are created and their dimensions are defined by existéisgoru
understandings that stem from an independent source such as statelkswor understandings
that secure certain benefits and that support claims of entitlement tcb#oefes.” Baraka v.
McGreevey 481 F.3d 187, 205 (3d Cir. 2007) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).
Although “a contract with a state entity can give rise to a property righ¢qtect under the
Fourteenth Amendment,” “the Supreme Cour haver held that every state contract gives rise
to a property interest."Unger v. National Residents Matching Progra®28 F.2d 1392, 1397
(3d Cir. 1991) (citations omitted). The Third Circuit has “recognized only eneml types of
contracts that create . . . property interests: one type is a contract chaddigrthe quality of

either the extreme dependence, or permanence and sometimes both; the othevhgpe tlse
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contract contains a provision that the state entity can terminate the tamthador cause.”
Pence v. Mayor & Twp. Comm. of Bernards Tw{h3 F. App’x 164, 1668 (3d Cir. 2011)
(citation omitted). “An employment contract by itself is not sufficie@hinoy v. Pennsylvania
State Univ,. No. 11CV-01263, 2012 WL 727965, at *@M.D. Pa. Mar. 6, 2012) (citation
omitted).

In this case, Plouffe grounds his property interest claim in the fact that henhad a
unexpired employment contract at the time of his terminat®eeResp. at 14. Standing alone,
this is insufficient to creata protectable property interest. There is simply no indication that
either this contract or the governing Collective Bargaining Agreement had acédimse”
provision for nortenured faculty. Accordingly, Plouffe, as a probationary teimacek
professo, cannot claim a property interest in continued employment.

Turning to the liberty interest claim, “to make out a due process claim for degmniti
a liberty interest in reputation, a plaintiff must show a stigma to his repugdtisdeprivation of
some additional right or interest.Dee v. Borough of Dunmaré49 F.3d 225, 2334 (3d Cir.
2008) (emphasis in original) (internal quotation marks and citations omitt€durts within the
Third Circuit have consistently found that no liberty interdstanstitutional significance is
implicated when the employer has alleged merely improper or inadequatenaerfer
incompetence, neglect of duty or malfeasanc€arroll v. Lackawanna Cty.No. 3:12CV-
2308, 2015 WL 5512703, at *9 (M.D. Pa. Sept. 16, 2015) (internal quotation marks and citations
omitted). Further, “[i]n all of the cases discussing the stighaa test, a basic fact pattern exists.
An employer creates and/or disseminates a false and defamatory impagsgiothe plaintiff in

connectionwith the plaintiff's termination. The employers’ actions have come first and the
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employees’ terminations have followed either immediately or shortly tieréa Paterno v.
Pennsylvania State UnjWo. CV 14-4365, 2016 WL 758305, at *10 (E.D. Pa. Feb. 25, 2016).

Here, these principles operate such that a reasonable jury could not awdfe Flief
for a violation of his liberty interest. Many of the statements that Plouffe religs satisfy the
stigma prong either were made after he was termdnatéwere not sufficiently stigmatizing to
implicate a liberty interest.”"Brown v. Montgomery Cty470 F. App’x 87, 91 (3d Cir. 2012)
(citation omitted). To the extent that he relies on the dissemination of the fact that he
complained abouPittaro’s hiring, it is hard to see how this information ssitystantially and
materiallyfalse.” Id. (citation omitted). After all, that is exactly what happened.

Consequently, and regardless of how this particular claim is framed, the cousttgeant
defendants’ motion with respect to the due process claim and enters judgmemtfavdnét

3. The Whistleblower Claim Under the Pennsylvania Whistleblower Law

Switching gears to address a claim under state law, the defendants ask the eotar
judgment in their favor on Plouffe’s whistleblower claim pursuant to the Peramsglv
Whistleblower Law (“Whistleblower Law”), 43 Pa. Stat. Ann. 88 14228. SeeMot. for
Summ. J. at 1:21. As a preliminary matter, it appears that the state legislature amended certa
provisions of the Whistleblower Law in 2014. The parties do not directly discusssigs even
though it appears that the legislature amended provisions relevant to éidicassimilar vein,
the court does not grapple with the intricacies ef etroactivity issue (which would appear to

turn on questions of state law) because the defendants’ arguments fail on theinmsvn te

1 with respect to Plouffe’s other arguments, the court simply obsémae 4 unit of state or local government doe
not violate the federal Constitution just because it violates a state or lwcaidduding the law of contracts.”
Garcia v. Kankakee Cty. Hous. Ayt@79 F.3d 532, 535 (7th Cir. 2002) (Easterbrook, J.) (citation omitted). An
for good measure, “therocedural protections available . . . under the CBA do not create a progletty Gooden

v. PennsylvaniaNo. CIV.A.1063792, 2010 WL 5158996, at *7 (E.D. Pa. Dec. 10, 2010).
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Presuming, as the defendants'@ithat the prior version of the statute is controlling, the
defendants’ thregart argunent does not do the work assigned to it. First, they argue that certain
individual defendants cannot be held liable under the Whistleblower Law becausedtmsy di
supervise Plouffe Seeid. at 20. For that proposition, the defendants purportedlyttutime fact
that, under the prior version of the statutan ‘employelis a person supervising one or more
employeesincluding the employee in question; a superior of that supernas@n agent of a
public body.” Rankin v. City of Philadelphj®63 F.Supp. 463, 468 (E.D. Pa. 1998mphasis
added) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). But they do not at all addresgeihe “
of a public body” language. This might not be fatal when viewed in isolation, but camds h
held that, contrary to the defendants’ position;warkers can be “employers” under the
Whistleblower Law. Seeid. (holding that two ceworkers were agentsof a public body and
therefore employersnder the Whistleblower Lawinternal quotation marks omittedgee also
Boyer v. City of PhiladelphiaNo. CV 136495, 2015 WL 9260007, at *8 (E.D. Pa. Dec. 17,
2015)(holding that a former partner of a police officer was an “employer” witiermeaning of
the Whistleblower Law (citindgrankin). The defendants have conseqlefdiled to carry their
summary judgment burden on this issue.

Second, the defendants contend that “Plouffe’s complaint is not within the definition of
‘wrongdoing’ under the Pennsylvania Whistleblower Ack&eMot. for Summ. J. at 20. Under
either vesion of the statute, “wrongdoing” is defined as “[a] violation which is not of alynere
technical or minimal nature of a Federal or State statute or regulation, bfigapsubdivision

ordinance or regulation or of a code of conduct or ethics destgngatect the interest of the

2 The defendants lead off their argument with a citation to “43 P.S. §d¥2%eeMot. for Summ. J. at 189. By
omitting the concluding phraséy a public body or an instance of waste by any other employer as defihéd in t
act” they evidence an intent to rely on the prior version of the staBde43 Pa. Stat. Ann. £423(a) (current
version).
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public or the employetr 43 Pa. Stat. Ann. § 1422. At the outset, the defendants offer no legal
authority to support their position. A cursory review of caselaw, though, revealsdbde af
ethics for school officials ay be able to serve as the predicate for satisfying the “wrongdoing”
standard.SeeBielewicz v. PeniTrafford Sch. Dist.No. CIV.A. 101176, 2011 WL 1486014t

*5 (W.D. Pa. Feb. 9, 2011) (noting that the allegations suggested that the defendamtss “acti
were violative of a code of conduct or ethiftg school officials and, thus, constitute a
wrongdoing under the statute(internal quotation marks omitted)) Plouffe’s Statement of
Undisputed Facts indicates that he informed Kutztown University that the hiringasbRvould
violate both criminal law and ethical codes. Given the plain language of the statute, this cour
disinclined to validate the defendants’ argument without citation to at least scahauéuprity
(preferably, given the argument’s tendency to cut against plain statutgra t&tation to some
authority of a state origin). Again, the defendants have failed to carry themaynudyment
burden on this issue.

Finally, the defendants maintain that Plouffe cannot satisfy the goveraumpton
standard.SeeMot. for Summ. J. at 20-21. To establish a violation of the Whistleblower Law, an
employee must come forward with some evidem of a connection between the report of
wrongdoing ad the alleged retaliatory actsAnderson v. Board of Sch. Directors of Millcreek
Twp. Sch. Dist.574 F. Appx 169, 173 (3d Cir. 2014()nternal quotation marks, citation, and
footnote omitted). If the employee makes this showing, the burden shifts to the employer to
establish that there was a legitimate reason for the adverse. acti@nce the employer offers
such evidence, the burden shifts back to the employee to show that this reason &las mer

pretextual’ Id. at 173 n.4 (citations omitted). In this case, the record permits the issue of
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causation to be decided by a jury. With that said, it follows that the defendants havaooece
not discharged their summary judgment burden.

Given ths state of affairs, the court is compelled to allow the whistleblower claim to
proceed to a jury. At this stage, and viewing the summary judgment record agabestktiep
of the pleadings, it appears that this claim moves forward against all otlthieliral defendants,
except for John Cavanaugh (“Cavanaugh”) and Michael Mottola (“Mott&talfat all possible,
it would be beneficial if the parties could come to an agreement as to who thedefgrelants
are with respect to this claifff. But for row, it is enough to state that the court must deny the
defendants’ motion as it relates to the claim under the Whistleblower Law.

On a final note, Plouffe asserts an independent violation of the provision of the
Whistleblower Law that states that “fagnployer shall post notices and use other appropriate
means to notify employees and keep them informed of protections and obligationghismide
act” 43 Pa. Stat. Ann. 8§ 1428eFifth Am. Compl. at Count Five. Although the defendants
ask the court to enter judgment in their favor on this claim as well, they advancetelipsad
argument in support of their request. Indeed, they do not even mention section 1428 in their
brief. The court is therefore constrained to allow this claim to proceed alonigsidetaliation
claim.

4. The Pennsylvania Administrative Agency Law Claim
The precise nature of this claim is wholly unclear. Nevertheless, Plouffe grdusds t

claim in the due process provisions of the federal and state ConstituSeefesp. at37-38.

13 Judge McLaughlin previously dismissed Kutztown University as a defiéodasovereign immunity grounds.
SeeOrder, Doc. No. 57. It also appears that she dismissed Robert Watroudeaslanteon June 1, 2015ee
Order, Doc No. 181.

4 Because it does not appear that Cavanaugh and Mottola are proper defendaetpedthto the other claims that
will be allowed to proceed, the parties should seriously consider miakilegr (by stipulation or otherwise) that,
given thecourt’s rulings in this opinion, these two defendants are dismissextii®entirety of the case.
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The court has already ruled that he cannot make out a due process claim under the federal
Constitution.  With respect to the state Constitutiocgufts within the Third Circuit have
consistently . . . found that the Pennsylvania Constitutaas notonfer a private right of action
on an individual who seeks to recover damages from a defehddadesty v. Rush Twp. Police
Dep't, No. CV 3:142319, 2016 WL 1039063, at *15 (M.D. Pa. Mar. 15, 20{i6)ernal
guotation marks and citations omittednd assuming that Plouffe is seeking equitable relief for
a violation of the Administrative Agency Law, it does not appear that that statilterizes the
type of equitable relief sought in this mattesee2 Pa. C.S.A. 8 702. For these reasons, the
court grants the defendants’ motion with respect to this rather unique claim ansl jadgment
in their favor.
5. The Section 1983 Conspiracy Claim
Because the court enters judgment in favor of the defendants on Plouffe’s constituti
claims, the court likewise grants the defendants’ motion with respect to thgracgslaim and
enters judgment in their favo6eeHamborsky v. O’'Barto613 F. App’x 178, 182 (3d Cir. 2015)
(stating that “[given our conclusion that the malicious prosecution claims [tai, plaintiff's]
conspiracy claim must also fail because there is no underlying violation of histutcorsdl
rights, which is a prerequisite for conspiracy liability” (citation omitted)).
6. The Weingarten Claim
For the reasons set forth by Judge McLaughlin in dismissing a similar claim in the
companion case, the court grants the defendants’ motion with respect\Weitingartenclaim
and entergudgment in their favor. SeePlouffe v. GamboneNo. CIV.A. 11-6390, 2012 WL
2343381, at *67 (E.D. Pa. June 20, 201@cLaughlin, J.). The lavof-the-case doctrine, even

assuming it can be applied, is not nearly as rigid as Plouffe sug§esResp at 40.
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7. The Gender Discrimination Claims

As to the final claims, the defendants move for summary judgment on Plouffelerge
discrimination claims under Title VII and Title IXSeeMot. for Summ. J. at 227. The parties
agree that the relevant gy is guided by the burdeshifting framework established in
McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Greedll U.S. 79Z1973) See id.see alsdResp. at 4249. The
sole disagreement revolves around whether the factual record is of a stateasURlouffe is
ertitled to a jury resolution of these claims. Although these claims surely admia&hesses,
the record does indeed require a jury to determine where those weaknesses mightslead. A
result, the court must deny the defendants’ motion with respettet@gender discrimination
claims. These claims, brought solely against Kutztown University, willggeb@long with the
claims under the Whistleblower Law.

IV.  CONCLUSION

Although the defendants are unable to prevent Plouffe from reaching a jury, they have
succeeded in funneling this case into the rather straightforward emplogasenthat it is. As
such, the jury will therefore pass on federal statutory claims, namelyetiteigdiscrimination
claims under Title VII and Title IX, and state statutory claims, namely the clantsr uhe
Whistleblower Law. At long last, a final resolution is on the horizon.

The court will issue a separate orfl@mally disposing of theuwdstanding motions.

BY THE COURT:

/s/ Edward G. Smith
EDWARD G. SMITH, J.
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